2001

Deseret Livestock Company, Anschutz Land and Livestock Company, Inc. v. Utah Power and Light Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for damages by users of electric power against the supplier for damages to pumps and loss of crops and forage resulting from negligence of the supplier, for breach of its contract to supply electricity, and for breach of implied warranties.

DISPOSITION OF CASE IN LOWER COURT

After a full trial, the trial court, Honorable Stewart M. Hanson, granted the motion of defendant for dismissal made at the close of the plaintiff's case.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek reversal of the judgment of the District

Court for errors in law and remand to the District Court for determination of damages.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

The appellants, who are the plaintiffs, will be referred to as Deseret and Hatch (Hatch being the name of the ranch which is owned by the appellant Anschutz), and the respondent as Power Company.

Deseret and Hatch are owners of cattle and hay ranches in Skull Valley, which is south and west of Tooele in Tooele County. The ranches cannot raise hay or feed cattle without water (R. 7 and 28). Both appellants pump water from wells through use of electric motors (R. 7 and 27). On about June 20, 1970, the pumps stopped on both ranches (R. 7 and 28). Both managers called Utah Electric Motor for assistance and under the direction of Al Nytch, whose deposition was taken, the pumps were repaired.

Deseret had five pumps, of which three were running at the time of stoppage, one was seriously damaged, one needed superficial attention, and one was not damaged (R. 8, 17). Hatch had two pumps running, of which one was seriously damaged (R. 28 and 38).

In his deposition, Al Nytch testified that he was pump foreman for Utah Electric Motor and acquainted with the pumps and motors at the Deseret and Hatch ranches in Skull Valley prior to June 18, 1970 (Dep. 3). The pumps were damaged on June 20,

1970, and he was called Sunday morning, first by Wells Beck of Deseret (Dep. 17) and while at Deseret was called by George Slauch of the Hatch ranch (Dep. 5, 17). The motors were undamaged, but one pump at each ranch was seriously damaged by having been operated in reverse (Dep. 3, 4, 7). The damage was caused by an outage, followed by a phase reversal, followed by a correction of the reversal, and the damage to the pumps was caused by operation of the motors and the pumps in reverse (Dep. 12, 19, 20, 23 and 27). The phase reversal on a three-phase circuit can be caused only by man (Dep. 15) and a phase reversal can be corrected only by man (Dep. 26). The delay in getting the pumps operative was due to delay in getting necessary materials and parts (Dep. 7). Ordering new pumps rather than repair parts and materials would have run into the same delays (dep. 30, 31).

Exhibit P-6 shows the location of the Deseret and Hatch ranches. The power comes to the ranches from the south and goes first to the Hatch ranch and then to Deseret. Mr. Nytch testified that a reversal caused by a man at the Deseret ranch could not cause damage to the pump on the Hatch ranch and that a reversal at the Hatch ranch could not cause damage to the pump at the Deseret ranch. A phase reversal south or upstream from the Hatch ranch could cause damage to the pumps at both ranches (Dep. 26-27).

Arthur H. Nielson, Jr., the electrical engineer called

by appellants, has had considerable experience with motors being reversed and testified that the reversal must be the result of human error. It can occur no other way and only three-phase equipment is affected, doing no damage to the motors (R. 101). A phase reversal could not happen accidentally and could not occur while the motor was running (R. 106). To cause damage at both ranches, the phase reversal must have been caused by human error upstream from the Hatch ranch (R. 107).

Dale Brown, a professional engineer employed by the Power Company, testified that a phase reversal involves "the reconnection in some manner of phase conductors so as to cause a rotation of the electrical current, one phase with respect to another, to change the direction." (R. 61) He testified that a phase reversal must be man-corrected (R. 62), and testified that it is conceivable that a phase reversal could result from a unique combination of circuits where a single-phase device is inadvertently opened by lightning and the right given combination of circuits in the vicinity might produce a temporary condition of phase reversal (R. 61-62). There was no evidence of any lightning at either ranch at the time in question or of any damage to any single phase appliances or outlets. Wells Beck testified that there was none at Deseret and George Slaugh testified that there was none at Hatch (R. 95 and 98).

Dale Brown testified that a phase reversal at the Hatch ranch could not affect the Deseret ranch and that if phase reversals

occurred on the same day at both ranches, it would have been man caused or the coincidence of the unique circumstances postulated by him (R. 65). Mr. Nielson testified that the phase reversal must have been upstream from the Hatch ranch and could have been at the generating plant or at the substation (R. 107).

The damage from the pumps being down was loss of crops of hay and forage. The pump at the Deseret covered 500 acres and cost 1,000 tons of hay, and the loss of pasturage for six weeks for 1,000 head of cattle (R. 9, 10). Sixty or seventy tons of protein block were also purchased (R. 17). Hay in 1970 was worth from \$30 to \$35 a ton in the stack and would have cost \$7 to \$8 a ton to put it up (R. 20), as testified by Daniel Freed. The forage was worth fifteen cents per day per head and the repair bills at Deseret were \$7,837.11 (R. 21-22).

At Hatch, the pump was down 60 to 70 days with repair bills of \$1,679.84 (R. 30) and loss of 90 days of feed for 300 head of cattle or 900 Animal Unit Months worth \$4.50 per unit (R. 29). The complaint was amended to reflect \$7,837.11 damage for pumps and motors at Deseret and \$29,300 for loss of hay and forage or a total of \$37,137.11 for the first three Causes of Action and for the Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Causes of Action \$1,679.84 for repair to pumps and motors and \$4,050 for loss of forage, or a total of \$5,729.84 (R. 114).

Dale Brown testified that because of the way the line

is conducted, it would be extremely difficult for a phase reversal to be caused (R. 85-88) and in his opinion, it couldn't happen on the Power Company's system (R. 88).

There was testimony about protective devices. The pumps were equipped in 1970 with time delay devices (Dep. 9, R. 18). Protective devices against phase reversal used to cost \$5,500 to \$7,000 (R. 104) and now approximately \$200 (R. 104, Dep. 9).

The only proof of formal notice to Power Company was Exhibit 5-P dated February 11, 1971 (R. 45). The Power Company's records contain no reports of trouble, repair work or outage on the Skull Valley line at or about June 18-21, 1970 (R. 51).

A. R. Dunn testified that Exhibit 2-P is a standard electric service agreement and that the service of both appellants is subject to Regulations issued by the Public Service Commission, including regulations 18 and 22, portions of which appear at R. 72 as follows:

"Regulation 18. Continuity of Service. The Company shall use reasonable diligence to provide steady and continuous service, but does not guarantee its service against irregularities and interruptions. The Company having used reasonable diligence shall not be liable to Customers for any damages occasioned by irregularities or interruptions."

"Regulation 22. Customer's Responsibility. The Customer assumes all responsibility on Customer's side of the Point of Delivery for service supplied or taken, as well as for the electrical installation and appliances used in connection therewith, and will indemnify, save harmless and defend the Company against all claims, demands, costs or expenses, for loss,

damage or injury to persons or property, in any manner directly or indirectly connected with, or growing out of, the transmission or use of electric service by the Customer, at or on the Customer's side of the Point of Delivery."

At the close of plaintiffs' case, defendant made a motion to dismiss for lack of proof, which was taken under advisement (R. 44). This motion was not renewed. The defendant put on its case and at the close of the case, the matter was argued and taken under advisement.

The Memorandum Decision of the Court granted the defendant's motion to dismiss (R. 156). Order of Dismissal was entered (R. 159-160, 167-168). Later, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were made and entered (R. 162).

ARGUMENT

Point I: Finding of Fact No. 14 and Conclusion of Law No. 1 are based on defendant's evidence and are inconsistent with the Order of Dismissal.

Point II: Finding of Fact No. 14 is not supported by evidence and Conclusion of Law No. 1 is unsupported.

Point III: Review by this Court should be of plaintiffs' evidence only.

Point IV: Res ipsa loquitur is applicable to the facts of this case:

- A. From plaintiffs' evidence;
- B. From all the evidence.

Point V: There was a breach of the electrical service

agreements.

Point VI: There was a breach of implied warranty of fitness.

Point VII: Plaintiffs' damages exceeded the cost of repairs of pumps.

POINT I

FINDING OF FACT NO. 14 AND CONCLUSION OF LAW NO. 1 ARE BASED ON DEFENDANT'S EVIDENCE AND ARE INCONSISTENT WITH THE ORDER OF DISMISSAL.

Defendant's motion, made at the close of plaintiffs' main case, was "to have the complaint dismissed because there has been no showing whatever of any negligence on the part of the company to support the plaintiffs' claim. I think the proof presented by plaintiffs has been completely lacking in attaching any liability to this defendant on any ground." (R. 43)

Following statements by counsel, the Court ruled:

"Well, I will take your motion under advisement, Mr. Gordon, and you can stop now or you can proceed without waiving your motion." (R. 44, Lines 11-13)

The defendant elected to proceed without waiving its motion, and the motion was not renewed at the close of all the evidence.

The Court's Memorandum Decision (R. 156-157)

"finds and concludes that the defendant's motion to dismiss should be granted."

And thereafter, an Order of Dismissal was prepared and signed

(R. 159-160) and objected to by the plaintiffs for the reason that Findings of Fact are required by Rules 41(b) and 52(a).

Thereafter, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were prepared and submitted (R. 162-166), including Finding of Fact No. 14 and Conclusion of Law No. 1, which are based upon evidence submitted by the defendant.

Since the only motion to dismiss made by the defendant was made at the close of plaintiffs' case, the granting of the motion and the subsequent dismissal are of necessity limited to the plaintiffs' evidence. This is true under the Federal Rule 41(b), because under that Rule there is no provision for taking the motion under advisement. It follows that evidence admitted after the motion cannot support the Findings made to effectuate the motion to dismiss. Charles v. Judge and Dolph, (C.A. 7th 1959), 263 F.2d 864.

The Utah Rule 41(b) as to this portion of the Rule is identical with the Federal Rule and provides:

"The court as trier of the facts may then determine them and render judgment against the plaintiff or may decline to render any judgment until the close of all the evidence."

There is nothing which empowers the Court to hear the defendant's case and then rule on the motion to dismiss in the light of the defendant's evidence. The practice of taking the motion under advisement until the defendant has presented its evidence is

only a delay of the ruling and not an expansion of the evidence upon which the ruling is made.

POINT II

FINDING OF FACT NO. 14 IS NOT SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE AND CONCLUSION OF LAW NO. 1 IS UNSUPPORTED.

The second sentence of Finding of Fact No. 14 is supported by evidence that the records of the Power Company do not contain any complaints or trouble calls from the customers. The first and third sentences of Finding No. 14 are based exclusively upon the silence of the Power Company's records. Gail A. Parker testified that the files of the Company were silent on complaints concerning these incidents, reports of outage, or reports of maintenance or repair work done (R. 50-51). It is obvious that if the incidents were reflected in the company's records, the case would not have been attended by difficulty of proof and the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur would not have loomed so significant. But absence of reports in the company's files, and absence of activity by agents or employees of the company which were unreported are two different things. Mr. Nielson, Mr. Brown, and Mr. Nytch, as well as Mr. Parker, recognized the damage as resulting from a phase reversal and that the correction of the phase reversal, however caused, would have to be done by men (R. 58, 62, 100, Nytch Dep. 15), and the evidence was so plain and overwhelming that the phase reversal in the first place could

have been induced only by an act of man that the negative evidence of the power company must be rejected, since it does not elucidate what happened and who was responsible.

Conclusion of Law No. 1 being based on Finding of Fact No. 14 must be rejected along with the Finding of Fact.

POINT III

REVIEW BY THIS COURT SHOULD BE OF PLAINTIFFS' EVIDENCE ONLY.

This follows from the argument made under Point I. Objection was made to Finding of Fact No. 14 and Conclusion of Law No. 1 before the trial court and the objections were denied (R. 170, 172) for reasons that seemed ambivalent. The entire record is brought before this Court to avoid further proceedings in the event this Court holds that even though the form of the Order was erroneous, the intent was to weigh the evidence on both sides and find in favor of the defendant.

Appellants submit that the logical approach to the question is to determine whether the plaintiffs' evidence made a prima facie case on all of the Causes of Action, with the assistance of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur on Causes of Action 1 and 4. If that be established, the question then is whether the evidence of defendant as reflected in Finding of Fact No. 14 and Conclusion of Law No. 1 is supportable and dispositive of the Causes of Action.

Since Findings of Fact were made, it appears that the

scope of review by this Court of the Findings of Fact properly made would be in a light favorable to the trial court and to the Findings. Lawrence v. Bamberger R.R. Co., 3 Utah 2d 247, 282 P.2d 335.

The failure of the Court to make any Findings of Fact as to the Second, Third, Fifth and Sixth Causes of Action, despite the objections of the plaintiffs thereto (R. 170), means that the evidence as to those Causes of Action shall be reviewed by this Court in a light most favorable to appellants. Davis v. Payne and Day, Inc., 10 Utah 2d 53, 348 P.2d 337.

POINT IV

RES IPSA LOQUITUR IS APPLICABLE TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

A. FROM PLAINTIFFS' EVIDENCE.

The trial court ruled that the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur does not apply because the damage sustained by plaintiffs occurred entirely on their own property (Conclusions of Law, Paragraph 2, R. 166; Memorandum Decision, R. 156). The trial court's ruling was clearly an erroneous application of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.

This Court has frequently considered the doctrine, which consideration has resulted in a precise definition. In Moore v. James, 5 Utah 2d 91, 297 P.2d 221 (1956), this Court declared that the doctrine would give rise to an inference of

negligence when three conditions are met.

"(1) The accident was of a kind which, in the ordinary course of events, would not have happened had the defendant used the due care, (2) The instrument or thing causing the injury was at the time of the accident under the management and control of the defendant, and (3) The accident happened irrespective of any participation at the time by the plaintiff." 5 Utah 2d at 96.

The first condition requires a finding that the accident is of a type which does not ordinarily happen. Plaintiffs' experts testified that the damage to plaintiffs' pumps was caused by a phase reversal, a phenomenon which ordinarily does not occur and is always man-caused (R. 101 and Nytch Dep. 15).

The first condition further requires a finding that the accident would not ordinarily happen unless the defendant did not exercise due care. The only evidence before the Court was that a phase reversal results from a faulty power source caused by a man-made, physical act of switching or reversing one electrical line with another. (Findings of Fact, ¶ 10, R. 165; Nytch Dep. p. 15; R. 101). The evidence further showed that the plaintiffs did not tamper or otherwise interfere with the electrical power lines or associated equipment at or just before the time of the damage (R. 8, 12, 37, 41). The highly improbable coincidence of a phase reversal on both plaintiffs' ranches provides compelling evidence that the phase reversal was caused

by a lack of due care by the defendant, the common source of electrical power used by the two ranches.

To conclude that a phase reversal--an event so uncommon as to be considered a "freak" happening--occurred simultaneously on two separate, unrelated ranches when no ranch employees were working on or were near the motors or the transmission lines and for lack of proof dismiss the common supplier as the cause, stretches plausibility to the limit.

Reason and logic, as well as the weight of the evidence, compel the conclusion that a phase reversal on two separate ranches was an event which would not have happened had the defendant used due care.

The second condition requires a finding that the instrumentality causing the accident was exclusively controlled by the defendant. The trial court apparently read this condition as requiring a finding that the damage have a physical situs within the exclusive control of the defendant. The trial court concluded that because the damaged pumps were physically upon the property of plaintiffs, and because plaintiffs maintained their own transmission lines and equipment, the second condition could not be met (Conclusions of Law, ¶ 2; Memorandum Decision, R. 166, 156). The trial court obviously confused "cause" which definitely must be within the control of the defendant, with

"injury" which need not be physically within the control of the defendant.

The difference between the control of "cause" and "injury" was made readily apparent by this Court in Lund v. Phillips Petroleum Company, 10 Utah 2d 276, 351 P.2d 952 (1960), where the paint on plaintiffs' automobiles was allegedly damaged by some deleterious substance in smoke and soot emitted from a flare stack at the defendant's oil refinery. The application of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur was appropriate there, even though the damaged cars were under the control of the plaintiffs. The doctrine was applicable because the cause--smoke--was controlled by the defendant. The cause of the injury in the instant case was a faulty electrical current which was being supplied to both plaintiffs. Neither plaintiff had any degree of control whatsoever over the common source of electrical power which was the cause of the injury.

The third condition requires a finding that neither of the plaintiffs participated at the time of the accident. The uncontroverted evidence is that neither of the plaintiffs nor their employees or agents interfered in any way with the operation of the pumps at the time of the damage (R. 8, 12, 37, 41). More important, however, is the fact that because neither plaintiff had any control whatsoever over the common electrical source,

neither plaintiff could interfere with the factual cause of the damage.

All of the admissible evidence before the trial court leads to the inescapable conclusion that the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur should be applied. This Court has never hesitated to apply the doctrine when it is appropriate, such as in the Lund case and in the present case. In Moore v. James, supra, this Court held that it would be prejudicial error for a court not to instruct the jury on res ipsa loquitur in a case where, as in the present case, all of the elements have been satisfied.

In Wightman v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 5 Utah 2d 373, 302 P.2d 471 (1956), this Court refused to apply the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur to a fact situation which at first blush appears to be somewhat similar to the present case. There, the administratrix of an estate sued the defendant for the death of the deceased, which resulted from a natural gas explosion and fire. The defendant, as in the present case, maintained the means to deliver the energy source--gas--up to the home of the deceased, and deceased maintained the various appliances beyond that point. The real issue for the Court to determine was where the explosion occurred. The Court held that there was no evidence to lead the finder of fact to conclude that there was greater probability that the explosion occurred in that part of the system maintained by the gas company.

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