2000

Deseret Livestock Company, a corporation, and Anschutz Land and Livestock Company, Inc., a corporation v. Utah Power and Light Company : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

As previously noted, he may conclude that it is inadvisable to sustain defendant's motion midway in the trial and that the trial should be completed, even though technically he may sustain defendant's motion. The denial amounts to nothing more than a refusal to enter judgment at that time; constitutes only a tentative ruling; and does not preclude the trial judge from making at the close of the case findings and determinations at variance with his prior tentative ruling.

In the instant case, where the court determined to hear all of the evidence before rendering its decision on defendant's Motion to Dismiss, it would be clearly unreasonable and improper for the court to base such decision on only a part of the evidence.

The trial court made fourteen Findings of Fact, all of which were fully supported by the evidence and which are substantially included, in narrative form, in the Statement of Material Facts herein, with references to record pages.

Plaintiffs principally take issue with Findings of Fact No. 4 and Conclusion of Law No. 1. Such Finding, in substance, is that Utah Power at or near the time plaintiffs claim the irrigation pumps were damaged did not (1) experience any electrical outage or disturbance on its Skull Valley line, (2) did not receive any complaint or trouble call from any of the sixty-five customers served by said line, and (3) did not perform any maintenance or repair work on said line.

Evidence to support such finding clearly appears from the testimony offered by Mr. Parker, the employee in

charge of Utah Power's Tooele office (R. 51-52, 54). Plaintiffs offered no evidence to the contrary. Exhibit 6-P illustrates the total Skull Valley circuit showing all the customers served from this line. Defendant's witness Brown testified (R. 91-92) that a phase reversal could not be accomplished without an outage and that it would take a minimum of ten to fifteen minutes to physically reverse the conductors and create a phase reversal. Plaintiffs' witness Nytch agreed that an outage was necessary to cause a phase reversal and testified that the outage would "... have to have been sustained for a while." (Dep. 11).

The lack of any communication to Utah Power at the time in question from any of the sixty-five customers supplied with service by the same line as that serving plaintiffs, who would have experienced an electrical outage for ten to fifteen minutes, combined with the fact that no repairs were being performed or were required on such line at the time in question, leads to the inescapable conclusion that the damage sustained by plaintiffs were isolated instances occurring only on their properties and affecting only their facilities.

In view of the evidence presented on this issue by defendant and the lack of any contrary evidence presented by plaintiffs, the trial court's Finding of Fact No. 14 was fully supported by the evidence and based, in part, on such findings, the Court properly concluded that defendant was

not negligent in the operation or maintenance of its electrical lines in supplying service to its customers.

POINT III

RES IPSA LOQUITUR IS NOT APPLICABLE TO THE
FACTS OF THIS CASE

Applicant alleges that the instant case presents a proper factual situation for application of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur. This court in numerous cases has considered the doctrine and the factual elements required for its application are well established in this jurisdiction. Significantly, the court has on several occasions dealt with the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur as specifically applied to public utility service.

In Loos v. Mountain Fuel Supply Company, 108 P.2d 254 (1940), an action was brought for injuries and damages sustained as a result of a natural gas explosion occurring in a pipe beneath a rental unit of Utah Motor Park. The gas company supplied gas to the motor park at two meters. The motor park then piped the gas to the furnaces and ranges in individual cabins within the park. The gas company had no control over the gas pipes and appliances within the motor park and beyond the gas meters. There is no evidence of specific negligence on the part of the gas company, and plaintiff sought to have such negligence established by application of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur. The court there held that the doctrine could not be invoked against

the gas company because it did not have any control over the gas facilities where the explosion occurred.

A more thorough treatment of the subject is found in the frequently cited case of Wightman v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 5 Utah 2d 373, 302 P.2d 471 (1956). This was an action seeking damages resulting from a natural gas explosion in a private residence. The gas company installed all the piping to the meter. All piping beyond the meter and to the individual gas appliances had been done by a local plumber. This court, in holding that the evidence was insufficient to justify submission of the case to a jury under the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*, stated as follows:

In order to invoke this doctrine it is generally recognized that the following elements must be present: (1) That the accident was of a kind which, in the ordinary course of events, would not have happened had due care been observed; (2) That it happened irrespective of any participation by the plaintiff; and (3) That the cause thereof was something under the management or control of the defendant, or for which it is responsible.

It is to be conceded that elements (1) and (2) above are satisfied by the facts in the instant case. It is element No. (3) that here gives us concern. This requisite is generally phrased in terms of "exclusive control" over the instrumentality which caused the injury. However, as pointed out by Dean Prosser, the use of such terminology is often not realistically applicable to the situation. He makes reference to examples of malfunctioning machinery, defective appliances and other situations where the instrumentality has passed beyond the control of the person responsible for its condition and is being used by and under the complete

control of the plaintiff. As suggested by that eminent authority, it would seem more accurate to appraise the situation in terms of the defendant's responsibility for the instrumentality, its condition or function, rather than merely its control. Whether it is in the defendant's exclusive control or not, if the evidence reasonably eliminates other explanations than the defendant's negligence, that provides the basis upon which the jury may be permitted to infer that it was defendant's negligence which resulted in the injury. We are therefore not here concerned with what degree of control the gas company had over the pipes leading into the meter and the meter itself which it had installed. We proceed upon the assumption that the gas company was responsible for that part of the system, leaving the responsibility upon the Wightmans for their house piping, furnace and gas water heater.

This brings us to the issue, crucial to the plaintiff's case, whether her evidence was sufficient upon which to base a finding that the source of the explosion was in the area for which the gas company was responsible. Such proof cannot rest upon speculation or conjecture, nor upon a mere choice of probabilities. To give rise to a jury question there must be something in the evidence from which the jury could reasonably believe that there is a greater probability that the explosion occurred in that part of the installation than in the pipes or appliances installed by and under the care of the Wightmans. Only if there is some such basis in the evidence would there be any foundation to permit the jury, under *res ipsa loquitur*, to infer that some defect or lack of due care in the gas company's part of the installation caused the leak and the resulting explosion.

The standards set forth in the Wightman case were later affirmed in Talbot v. L.D.S. Hospital, 21 Utah 2d

73, 440 P.2d 872 (1968), and in Lund v. Mountain Fuel Supply Company, 15 Utah 2d 10, 386 P.2d 408 (1963).

A recent decision by the Supreme Court of Montana, Hash v. Montana Power Company, 524 P.2d 1092 (1974), is one of many from other jurisdictions which reaches the same conclusion as that of the Wightman case with respect to the application of res ipsa loquitur. In that case, which concerned a fire originating in a meter box affixed to plaintiff's building, the court in holding that res ipsa loquitur was not applicable stated as follows:

To hold that defendant must supply an explanation for every fire that occurs on private property to which it supplies electricity, when it can be shown that the fire developed through arcing in the meter box would have virtually the force and effect of making defendant strictly liable for injuries which occur without proof of negligence on its part.

Even if it might be determined that a power company is in the same relative position to the general public as that of a common carrier and, therefore, as a matter of public policy, it should be required to explain accidents which occur through its equipment, this case does not fall within that principle. The fire occurred on plaintiff's property within equipment owned by it. There is no reason to believe that defendant is in a better position to explain how the accident happened than is plaintiff.

In the foregoing Montana case, the theory was advanced by plaintiff's expert witness, in the absence of any specific showing of defendant's negligence, that the fire was caused by a power surge through the electric lines

serving plaintiff's property. That theory was apparently rejected by the jury in view of the power company's evidence, similar to evidence presented in the instant case, that no irregularities in electric service were brought to the power company's attention by its other customers and that no defects were found in the service lines.

The facts of the instant case, particularly with regard to the necessary element of control by the defendant, clearly do not fall within that type of case to which the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* can be applied. The physical manner in which electric service is supplied to plaintiffs is far different from that where a short drop line conveys power from a distribution line at the rear of a residence or building lot to a meter affixed to a house or building. Electric power is delivered to plaintiffs at certain metering points from which it is then conveyed through plaintiffs' own lines and associated facilities to various points of use on their respective ranches. Plaintiffs' witness Beck, in his testimony (R. 14), described four customer-owned lines on the Deseret ranch that are respectively one-half mile long, one hundred yards long, one hundred yards long, and one-quarter mile long. These lines, together with transformers, fuses and other devices are owned, operated and maintained by Deseret. Utah Power has no control whatever over these lines or their operation or maintenance. Accordingly, while the damaged pumps were both owned, operated and maintained

by plaintiffs on their own respective properties, the additional element is present here, particularly in the case of Deseret, that the power to serve such pumps is conveyed on their own electric facilities at various, but substantial, distances from the metering point to the actual point of use. The requisite element of defendant's control is completely lacking.

Plaintiffs rely on the contention that the court should disregard all of the traditional control factors and find that *res ipsa loquitur* applies because the electric power was "faulty." Under such theory plaintiffs allege that consideration need not be given to such independent factors as referred to above, i.e., the damage occurring solely on plaintiffs' properties, occurring to their electrical equipment, the operation and maintenance of which are under their exclusive control, and the occurrence of damage at a considerable distance from the point where electric power is delivered to the interconnected electrical facilities owned by plaintiffs. This contention, relative to control by the defendant, was fully considered and disposed of by this court in the Wightman case. On that issue the court stated:

Finally, plaintiff makes the contention that it was not the pipes, appliances or meter which caused the explosion, but the gas itself, which is under the exclusive management and control of defendant, so the rule of *res ipsa loquitur* would apply. The position cannot be sustained. If such were the case, the rule could be invoked against the supplier of gas in any case of

injury resulting therefrom, regardless of whether the facilities were installed by the gas company and regardless of the amount of control or the kind of care exercised over them by others. This would be an impractical and insuperable burden which is not imposed by the law in Utah nor of other jurisdictions.

One additional factor that must be considered in determining whether or not negligence should be predicated on the theory of *res ipsa loquitur* relates to the evidence regarding the time when each plaintiff sustained damage to its respective pump. There is a complete absence of competent evidence that the damage to the respective pumps resulted from a simultaneous occurrence. No showing was made that the incidents were simultaneous and, to the contrary, the evidence is completely conflicting in this regard. Mr. Beck (Deseret) stated the damage occurred around the 18th or 20th of June and he immediately called Mr. Nytch (R. 13). Mr. Nytch stated he was called on June 21 (Dep. 17). Mr. Arneson (Anschutz) placed the time of the pump damage as sometime in June (R. 31). Mr. Slaugh (Anschutz) testified the incident occurred ". . . somewhere around the 18th or 20th of June, somewhere there" (R. 38) and he immediately called Mr. Arneson and Mr. Nytch (R. 37). Mr. Nytch stated Mr. Slaugh called him five days or so after the incident occurred (Dep. 4). It is apparent that this evidence not only fails to establish that the pump damage occurred simultaneously on both properties, but there is no clear showing as to the specific time the damage

occurred on either property. Further, and indicative of the lack of unanimity in establishing a believable time of occurrence, Mr. Arneson stated the Anschutz pump was out of service for sixty to seventy days (R. 29) but that repairs were completed by August 4 (R. 32). The obvious conclusion drawn from that testimony of the manager of the Anschutz Ranch is that the damage to its pump occurred between May 24 and June 4.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT DEFENDANT DID NOT BREACH THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT TO SUPPLY ELECTRIC SERVICE TO PLAINTIFF DESERET OR THE IMPLIED AGREEMENT TO SUPPLY PLAINTIFF ANSCHUTZ

An electric service agreement between Utah Power and Deseret was introduced and received in evidence as Exhibit 2-P. No similar agreement between Utah Power and Anschutz is in evidence but plaintiffs in Point V of their brief nevertheless refer to agreements with both parties and, in fact, refer therein to specific terms of an agreement with Hatch (Anschutz) regarding amounts of kilowatts, cycles and volts of power to be supplied under such non-offered agreement.

With respect to the one electric service agreement that is in evidence (Ex. 2-P), the agreement specifically provides that it is subject to the Company's Electric Service Regulations, designated as Original Regulations, P.S.C.U. No. 8, which were attached thereto and made a part thereof (R. 71). These regulations were described by Mr. A. R.

Dunn, Utah Power's Manager of Rates, as being a set of rules setting forth the conditions, definitions and characteristics under which the Company agrees to supply electric service to a customer and under which the customer agrees to accept service from the company (R. 70).

Regulations No. 18 and 24 are particularly pertinent to the instant case. Said regulations read as follows:

THE SUPPLYING AND TAKING OF SERVICE

18. Continuity of Service. The Company shall use reasonable diligence to provide steady and continuous service, but does not guarantee its service against irregularities and interruptions. The Company having used reasonable diligence shall not be liable to Customers for any damages occasioned by irregularities or interruptions.

22. Customer's Responsibility. The Customer assumes all responsibility on Customer's side of the Point of Delivery for service supplied or taken, as well as for the electrical installation and appliances used in connection therewith, and will indemnify, save harmless and defend the Company against all claims, demands, costs or expense, for loss, damage or injury to persons or property, in any manner directly or indirectly connected with, or growing out of, the transmission or use of electric service by the Customer, at or on the Customer's side of the Point of Delivery.

Plaintiff Anschutz's knowledge and acceptance of its responsibility for all repairs on the Customer's side of the point of delivery is clearly evidenced by the testimony of its manager, Mr. Arneson. He was specifically asked if Hatch (Anschutz) Ranch accepted responsibility for repairs on the

users side of the meter and he answered affirmatively (R. 27).

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